NO. 2007-CA-348-COA

JAMES RODGERS

FILED

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AUG 12 2007 UFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPPLEME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

JOHN LEROY LONG, MS BAR NO. PRO BONO ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT 501 CR 683
SALTILLO MS 38866
(662) 869-5584

NO. 2007-CA-348-COA

JAMES RODGERS

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the trial court erred as a matter of law by failing to order a new trial upon learning that the state and defense attorney failed to disclose relevant medical information to the Court prior to trial thereby depriving James Rodgers throughout the entire case of his Constitutional Rights to a fair trial as secured by the due process clause of the State of Mississippi and of the United States.
- **Issue 2:** Whether the trial court erred as a matter of law by failing to ascertain if a meaningful retrospective competency hearing is still possible after more than seven years and without contemporaneous medical information.
- **Issue 3:** Whether the trial court erred in holding that the defendant was competent to stand trial, not withstanding the total lack of contemporaneous medical evidence and the passage of time since the trial of the case.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-348-COA

JAMES RODGERS

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case:

This case involves the appeal of the trial court's ruling that James Rodgers was competent to stand trial on February 16, 2000. Prior to the trial no competency hearing was held for James Rodgers even though his defense counsel had made affidavit and the trial court had filed an Order requiring a complete psychiatric examination of James Rodgers prior to trial. The trial Court did not hold a competency hearing pursuant to MRCCC 9.06, and such failure by the State of Mississippi and James Rodgers' trial counsel to inform the Court of the report of an examination held at the VA Hospital in Memphis, Tennessee, on October 26, 1999, resulted a violation of due process of the law.

After James Rodgers was convicted of murder, Rodgers filed for post conviction relief, which relief was granted by the Supreme Court of Mississippi in Cause No. 2003-M-01999. As a result of this Order James Rodgers was given a retrospective competency hearing on December 12, 2006. The hearing was held more than seven years after the trial of the case and without any contemporaneous medical information available for James Rodgers concerning his mental status and his ability to rationally assist his

attorney in his defense. These circumstances required the Court to speculate about James Rodgers' mental capacities in his trial for murder.

The trial Court denied James Rodgers' post conviction relief on January 30, 2007.

James Rodgers now appeals from that decision. (See Exhibit 1, Record Excerpt, page 1.)

B. Course of the Proceedings:

- James Rodgers was indicted for murder of Walter Stolz in February 1999, in Lee County, Mississippi.
- James Rodgers' defense counsel filed a pre-trial Motion for a Psychiatric
 Examination on August 6, 1999. The trial Court thereafter entered an Order for a

 Psychiatric Examination of James Rodgers. (See attached Exhibits 2 and 3.)
- 3. As a result of the trial Court's Order James Rodgers was transported to the Veteran's Hospital in Memphis, Tennessee, to be examined by Dr. William Walker, Jr., on October 26, 1999. The Order also provided that the Court be informed of the results of that examination.
- 4. Dr. William Walker, Jr., stated upon his report the purpose of the examination and the fact that he did not perform a mental status examination. (See Exhibit 4.) This report was withheld by the defense attorney and the State of Mississippi from the lower Court prior to trial.
- 5. James Rodgers filed for post conviction relief on September 9, 2003, before the Mississippi Supreme Court in Cause No. 2003-M-01999. The Order, signed on March 24, 2004, grants James Rodgers' application to seek post conviction relief in the trial Court. (See Exhibit 5.)

6. This appeal is from the Order of the Circuit Court of Lee County, Mississippi, in Civil Action No. CV04-071(G)L denying post-conviction relief. (See attached Exhibit 1.)

C. Statement of the Facts:

James Rodgers was first admitted to the Veteran's Hospital in Memphis, Tennessee, on or about October 9, 1974, and diagnosed with a personality disorder with antisocial pyclothymic features, and possible manic depressive disease. By June of 1990, James Rodgers' manic depressive disease had evolved into bipolar disorder, type III. By September 8, 1998, records of the VA Hospital in Memphis, Tennessee, indicate that James Rodgers' diagnoses were PTSD, bipolar, depression. (See Exhibit 6.)

Prior to being tried for murder on or about February 16, 2000, James Rodgers was in the Lee County Jail for approximately seventeen months. At no time during the seventeen months did James Rodgers receive psychiatric treatment and went to trial with a jury verdict of guilty of murder the next day, February 17, 2000.

At the time of the trial James Rodgers was tried without benefit of proper medications for his several mental conditions, as the medical personnel in the Lee County Jail had stopped James Rodgers' medication. (See Exhibit 6.) James Rodgers was tried without benefit of a psychiatric examination by a psychiatrist or psychologist for seventeen months prior to trial.

At no time prior to trial was the Court informed of the report by Dr. William Walker, Jr., dated October 26, 1999. (See report as Exhibit 4.) As a result the trial Court was without benefit of all the facts surrounding the mental capacities of James Rodgers.

The result of this failure to inform the Court prevented the Court from being able to follow MRCCC 9.06.

James Rodgers filed a Motion with supporting affidavit to determine if it was possible to hold a competency hearing without medical evidence seven years after the trial. (See Exhibit 7.) The meaningfulness of a retrospective competency hearing in this case was not addressed by the trial Court. Said Motion was supported by an affidavit from Dr. Joe E. Morris, which in effect states that no meaningful competency hearing can be held in this matter without resorting to speculation about James Rodgers' mental capacities before and during trial. (See supporting affidavit to Exhibit 7.) The Affidavit of Dr. Joe E. Morris was unopposed by the State of Mississippi.

James Rodgers was diagnosed with post traumatic stress disorder, bipolar, manic depressive, depression. The only time James Rodgers saw a psychiatrist in the seventeen months he was held in jail before trial was when Dr. William Walker, Jr., did not perform an evaluation on October 26, 1999. (See Exhibit 4.) This report included only a GAF (Global Assessment Functioning) Score of 45, which indicates severe depression. A GAF rating measures the level of functioning at the time of the evaluation and indicates Dr. Walker's subjective judgment of James Rodgers' psychological functioning on that date.

At the hearing on December 12, 2006, Nat Collins, a nurse practitioner, testified that prior to the hearing in 2006, he prescribed Elavil, which is used to treat major depression. (See hearing transcript dated December 12, 2006, page 57, marked as Exhibit 8.) Nat Collins also testified that a person with major depression has a condition which is not always visible to the naked eye.

Even through speculation, one could reasonably conclude that James Rodgers was and has been suffering from severe depression based upon the VA computer generated medical record of September 1998; the one page report of Dr. William Walker, Jr., and the examination made at the Lee County Jail in 2006, by the nurse practitioner, Nat Collins. Major depression or severe depression affects the mental capacities adversely by causing the individual to use poor judgment, reducing concentration, and affecting memory.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-CA-348-COA

JAMES RODGERS APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The argument may be summarized into three basic issues. The first issue calls for a determination or argument based upon the failure of the State and Trial Court to inform the Court of the results of a psychiatric examination made as pursuant to a Court Order. The Court Order requires that the report be made to the trial Court to determine the mental status of the defendant, James Rodgers. There was a total failure of the State and defense attorney to obey this Order. The failure to appraise the Court and follow its Court Order deprived the Trial Judge of critical knowledge surrounding the mental status of James Rodgers before and at the time of trial in this case.

Secondly, James Rodgers filed a Motion to determine the accuracy of his proposed retrospective competency hearing. This Motion was supported by an Affidavit of a licensed psychologist, Joe Edd Morris, who opined that such a competency hearing in this case could not be held without resorting to speculation as to the mental status of James Rodgers. This Affidavit was unopposed by the State.

Thirdly, the retrospective competency hearing, which was held on December 12, 2006, clearly showed that there was no available medical information upon which to base an accurate determination of the mental status of James Rodgers seven years earlier and

prior to the trial of this case. The trial Court ignored over twenty years of psychiatric treatment and based its judgment solely upon a reading of a cold record and the testimony of the defense counsel. Again, depression does not always manifest itself to the observer as a psychotic condition. The defense counsel's testimony is incredulous in that he attempts to say that James Rodgers, though suffering from a psychotic condition and under psychiatric care, was able to make his own personal determination to waive a psychiatric examination in this matter. No record of this event, if it happened, was made.

Any of these arguments summarized above should be sufficient for this Court to order a new trial, as James Rodgers clearly "fell through the cracks" and was not afforded due process of law.

NO. 2007-CA-348-COA

JAMES RODGERS APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPELLEE

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review: It should be noted that clear error and abuse of discretions are separate standards of review. Where questions of law arise the standard of review is de novo. A lower Court's factual findings, unless they are found to be clearly erroneous, will not be disturbed. *Pace v. State*, 770 So. 2d 1052 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000.)

Issue 1:

James Rodgers contends that he was denied a fair trial, in violation of the due process clause in two ways; 1) He was denied a fair trial when James Rodgers' retained attorney and the State of Mississippi failed to carry out the Court's Order by not filing or reporting verbally to the Court the report received from Dr. William Walker, Jr., that no mental testing was done. This failure to report verbally to the Court or file with the Court the medical record from Dr. William Walker, Jr., may be viewed by some as a type of pious fraud (see Black's law dictionary, 4th Edition, page 789;) and 2) James Rodgers was not evaluated by the trial Court because the lower Court did not have all of the information available. The withholding of critical medical information resulted in the trial Court's failure to pursue a competency hearing as required under MRCCC 9.06.

James Rodgers was tried for murder at a time when the trial Court had been mislead by the retained counsel and the State of Mississippi. The trial Court states that it did not have full information at the time of the trial in its preliminary statement before the hearing on December 12, 2006. (See page 2 and 4 of the hearing transcript, dated December 12, 2006.) This withholding of critical medical information from the trial Court caused James Rodgers to "fall through the cracks." (See the testimony of Honorable Omar Craig, pages 50 and 51 of the trial transcript dated December 12, 2006.)

Our criminal justice system has long recognized that a person, such as James Rodgers, who lacks the capacity to formulate a rational defense may not be subjected to a trial. *Drope v. Missouri* 420 U.S. 162, 171 (1975.) The conviction of James Rodgers was at a time when he lacked the mental capacities to formulate a rational defense thereby violating due process. *Pate v. Robinson*, 383 U.S. 375, 378 (1966.)

One would have to speculate that the trial Court, if it had the knowledge of James Rodgers' mental conditions, including post traumatic stress disorder, bipolar, manic depression and severe depression would have ignored this information and proceed to trial, in violation of MRCCC 9.06. It is the contention of James Rodgers that the trial judge, as a detached and neutral person, would have ordered a competency hearing before the murder trial, otherwise one would have to assume that a Court acting, detached and neutral person, would have ignored the medical facts and history of this case and forced James Rodgers to trial while in the state of severe depression without proper medication.

This Court said in *Conor v. State*, 632 So.2d 1239 (Miss. 1993), that the ultimate question is whether reasonable grounds exist to believe that the accused was insane.

MRCCC Rule 9.06 mandates a competency hearing and a determination of what is

reasonable rests largely with the discretion of the trial judge. For the purposes of reviewing a decision to forego a competency hearing this Court has used the following test, did the trial judge receive information which, objectively considered, should reasonably have raised a doubt about defendant's competence and alerted him to the **possibility** that the defendant could neither understands the proceedings, appreciate their significance, nor **rationally aid** his attorney in his defense?

Therefore, the "Bedrock" issue is whether or not reasonable grounds existed to mandate a competency hearing. James Rodgers submits that it did, but the reasonable grounds that existed were never presented to the trial judge. Knowledge of the trial judge is the defining characteristic of MRCC 9.06.

The only fair thing to do now was suggested by James Rodgers' witness, long time attorney, Omar Craig. Mr. Craig opined that James Rodgers "fell through the cracks." He opined that the only fair thing to do now is to set aside James Rodgers' conviction and hold a meaningful competency hearing if possible. (See hearing transcript of testimony of witness attorney Omar Craig's.)

Conventional wisdom as well as case law indicates that a person who has had severe mental problems, officially raised by Affidavit, cannot waive his right to a competency hearing because it is folly to believe that an incompetent person is competent to waive a hearing. The determination of unfitness to stand trial and able to assist in one's defense requires a simultaneous consideration of the individuals' mental capacities with reference to the demands of the specific trial. Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 378 (1966).

Issue 2:

It is further the contention of James Rodgers' that the lower Court should have made a determination as to the probabilities of a meaningful assessment of James Rodgers' mental capacities. A meaningful determination is not likely where the circumstances of the case include a complete lack of medical records for seventeen months prior to the trial of James Rodgers.

Due to the long passage of time and the lack of contemporaneous medical evidence, including medical records, it is submitted that the unopposed affidavit of Dr.

Joe E. Morris, filed as an addendum to James Rodgers' Motion to Determine the Accuracy of a Retrospective Competency Hearing, is correct in stating that the lack of medical information causes any assessment of James Rodgers at this time to be pure speculation. Dr. Joe E. Morris' affidavit stands alone as the only affidavit concerning the distinction between speculation and an accurate assessment of the defendant's mental capacities before and at trial.

The medical evidence in this case is so scant that it is now impossible to cure any error by holding a *nunc pro tunc* determination of competency. It is the argument of James Rodgers that a meaningful determination of his mental capacities at or before trial, more than seven years ago, and without medical evidence, his mental competence cannot now be made.

A meaningful retrospective competency hearing depends on the facts of each case. In *Wheat v. Thigpen*, 793 F.2d 621, 630 (5th Cir. 1986) there was insufficient data available to guarantee reliability. The real question is whether or not the available evidence is adequate to arrive at an accurate assessment of the defendant's mental

capacities that can be labeled as more than mere speculation. Any determination made in this case must, as a matter of necessity, result in mere speculation due to the lack of mental status testing at or near the time of the trial.

Issue 3:

A review of the trial Court's Order, dated January 30, 2007, denies James Rodgers any relief, indicating the Court's conclusion was the trial Court's review of the transcript of the criminal trial and the observation of the defendant during the trial. Said criminal case is styled CR-99-177 in the lower Court and was reviewed by the Mississippi Supreme Court in case number 2000-KA-01206-SCT. By the Court's own statement the passage of seven years affects memory and therefore would make the Court's observation of the defendant during trial very difficult, adversely affecting accuracy.

Another reason given by the Court is the reading of the trial transcript from

February 16, 2000, and relying upon what was said in that transcript. Obviously the

Court did not consider what was missing from the transcript. Missing from the transcript
is any type of evidence, lay or expert, which would corroborate James Rodgers' position
that his thumb slipped off the hammer without his finger being on the trigger causing the
pistol to be fired. This evidence logically would be difficult to believe unless you
produced sound proof that the weapon could be fired in such a fashion. The failure of
James Rodgers to attempt to show the jury by a visual demonstration of how the gun
discharged indicates a lack of good judgment and a rational understanding of what it
takes to formulate a meaningful defense, which would be in the best interest of James
Rodgers and directly affects the rationality of his defense. James Rodgers was clearly

limited in his ability to understand the consequences of his failure to demonstrate how the weapon in question could be fired without his finger being on the trigger. Query: Who, in their right mind would allow themselves to stand trial for murder without corroborating evidence which could have easily been presented to the jury? In other words, James Rodgers could have had another witness, be he expert or lay, demonstrate to the jury how the weapon in question could be fired without his finger being on the trigger. James Rodgers himself could have made such a demonstration. James Rodgers allowed himself to be tried without having another witness corroborate his version of the events of this case. In summary, James Rodgers did not have sense enough to put on a rational defense, which he could have easily done. James Rodgers failed to demonstrate, either through himself, or through another witness, or both to corroborate the most important point in a trial of this case. (See transcript of testimony of James Rodgers' in criminal Case No. CR99-177 and marked as Exhibit 10.)

With regard to the lower Court's reliance upon James' Rodgers retained counsel, James Rodgers would point out that he had made affidavit in this matter that he did not waive his rights to a competency hearing. (See affidavit of James Rodgers, Exhibit 9.).

Once the possibility in competency is raised, as shown by the retained counsel's first affidavit and contradicted by his second affidavit, a criminal defendant cannot waive his procedural rights to a competency hearing. (See *Pate v. Robison*, 383 U.S. 375 (1966.)

Both the trial Court and retained counsel, Weddle, chose to ignore over thirty years of psychiatric care by the VA Hospital in Memphis, Tennessee, when they substitute their lay opinions to arrive at their decision. Also, both the Court and retained

counsel, Weddle, choose to ignore the total lack of medical evidence from a psychiatrist or psychologist and a total lack of medical records during the seventeen months prior to trial. This total disregard of the lack of contemporaneous medical proof indicates an unreasonable analysis of the facts in this case.

The trial Court also ignored the proof by James Rodgers that a person who is suffering from severe depression may not exhibit irrational behavior. Therefore, any observations made by the Court in this regard should be considered very weak.

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