**JAMES RODGERS** 

NOV 1 5 2007

**APPELLANT** 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

VS.

NO. 2007-CA-0348

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

**BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE** 

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

L

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

### **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **Procedural History**

James Rogers, a/k/a James Walter Rodgers [hereinafter "Rodgers"], was convicted in the Circuit Court of Lee County for the murder of Walter Stolz and was sentenced to a term of life imprisonment. On direct appeal, the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed his conviction and sentence. *Rogers v. State*, 796 So.2d 1022 (Miss.2001).

On May 14, 2004, Rodgers filed in the circuit court a Motion to Vacate and Set Aside Conviction and Sentence. (C.P.4) Thereafter, the Mississippi Supreme Court ordered the circuit court to conduct a hearing to determine whether Rodgers was competent to be tried at the time of his trial. (T.2-3) Having conducted this hearing, the circuit court found that the defendant "had the capacity to understand the proceedings and also was able to adequately assist his counsel." Accordingly, the court concluded that the defendant was competent to stand trial. The motion for post-conviction relief was dismissed. (C.P.221-

22) Aggrieved by the judgment rendered against him, Rodgers has perfected an appeal to this Court.

#### **Substantive Facts**

At the outset, the court made preliminary remarks set out in pertinent part below:

Mr. Rodgers was indicted by the grand jury of Lee County by indictment returned the 29<sup>th</sup> day of January, 1999, charging him with murder in the death of Walter Stolz....

At some point ... the defendant was ordered to be examined by a psychiatrist or other qualified expert to determine his competency to stand trial and to assist in the defense, preparation of the defense in this charge or to this charge.

As I recall, and not necessarily based on anything in the file, the matter proceeded to trial, and the psychiatric evaluation was never performed, as I understand, though it had been ordered and arrangements had been made for that to be accomplished at the VA Hospital in Memphis, Tennessee.

The jury found the defendant guilty of murder. He was sentenced to serve life imprisonment and has been in custody from that time until today. And is still in custody.

The defendant, pro se as I understand, filed with the Supreme Court a, I'll call it a motion because I'm not exactly certain what it is. The Supreme Court by its order required this court to conduct a hearing to determine whether or not he was competent at the time of the trial to assist and understand the proceedings. ...

(emphasis added) (T.2-3)

The court then invited counsel for plaintiff Rodgers to call his first witness. Counsel stated in pertinent part, "I want the record to be clear that we do not waive in any form or fashion our motion that if it should be determined first whether or not the hearing itself has any efficacy or accuracy after so many years and so much lack of medical evidence."

When the court asked whether counsel had any evidence to present in support of that position, counsel asserted that he had "filed a letter ... in the form of an affidavit from a psychologist." (T.3-4) The court then stated the following:

Counsel, based on that and just common sense alone, I think one would conclude that the passage of time might make it somewhat difficult, possibly impossible to make any real determination of the circumstances existing at the date of the alleged incident. However, these matters were not brought before the court, and this defendant stands convicted of a murder.

Now, the attack on the system, as I perceive it to be, involves many, many questions, but I'm going to ask you to go forward with any proof you have ...

(emphasis added) (T.4-5)

Counsel for Rodgers then told the court that he had been unable to procure some of his client's "outstanding medical records" which in his opinion "might" have been relevant. (T.5) With respect to this point, the assistant district attorney set out the state's position as follows:

Your Honor, the district attorney's position is a properly drawn up subpoena duces tecum properly served on the sheriff's office will get him the records or not, depending on their existence. The district attorney's office is not the repository for those records nor do I make it my business to go to various and sundry agencies and seized [sic] their records on behalf of defendants, particularly ones who are—have been tried and convicted of murder

I'm glad to see the records, that they appear, but once again, I don't view it as my duty to issue a subpoena for those records.

(T.6)

At the point the court informed counsel for Rodgers, "Well, Counsel, you certainly may subpoen those records. I don't know that there would be any resistance

whatsoever." When counsel reiterated that he had been "escorted from the jail" upon attempting to obtain records "from November the 7th or 8th until the 17th of this year..." the assistant district attorney countered, "[M]y only objection to it is one of relevance ... what those have to do with his mental condition in 1998, 1999, if any. This seems to be a pretty far stretch and pretty remote in time with regard to what the issue is." Disputing the prosecutor's argument, counsel for Rodgers nonetheless agreed to "move on," and called his first witness, John Weddle, who represented the defense at trial. (T.6-8)

Initially, counsel for Rodgers conducted a line of questioning in an apparent attempt to establish ineffective assistance of trial counsel. After the state objected on the ground of relevance, the court sustained the objection, reminding counsel for Rodgers that the question of ineffective assistance was "not a question before this court ... The mandate from the Supreme Court says I'm to determine what his psychological circumstance was, is and/or was at the time." (T.8-11)

Counsel for Rodgers went on to ask Mr. Weddle what had led him to request a competency hearing prior to trial. (T.12) Mr. Weddle answered,

We had access to some of Mr. Rodgers' records from the VA Hospital. We reviewed those. The reason we decided to ask for a psychiatric evaluation was because I got a call from an individual that had known Mr. Rodgers for quite some time. ... They indicated to me that Mr. Rodgers had suffered some kind of illness while he was serving in the Navy.

(T.12-13)

Mr. Weddle testified additionally that as a result of his motion and affidavit, the Circuit Court of Lee County entered an order for Rodgers to be evaluated by a psychiatrist. Thereafter, Mr. Weddle made an appointment for his client to be examined at the VA Hospital in Memphis. (T.14-16)

Counsel for Rodgers then asked whether the court had received a copy of the results of the examination. (T.17) Mr. Weddle responded,

I don't know whether the court ever got a copy of it or not, sir. The evaluation, as such, was not really performed, I guess you would say. The doctor saw him on that date. And there's some notes here that some of it you can read, some of it you cannot, but he stated that he did not perform a psychological examination. He did put a GAF score at the bottom or the middle of the page there, but that's when my conversation with Mr. Rodgers about the psychiatric evaluation ensued was when I got this paper.

(T.17)

When counsel for Rodgers asked why he had not filed this report with the court, Mr. Weddle explained, "because this was not a psychiatric evaluation pursuant to the court order. The court ordered required that a psychiatric evaluation be performed. This note specifically states that he did not perform a psychiatric evaluation." In other words, Mr. Weddle "had no psychiatric evaluation to supply to the court." Furthermore, according to Mr. Weddle, the defense had declined "to pursue another evaluation after Mr. Walker discharged Mr. Rodgers on this date is because Mr. Rodgers specifically stated to me that he did not wish to pursue that. That's why we went to trial." (T.19-21)

Counsel for Rodgers then inquired, "And so it's your position that Mr. Rodgers, although you swore that he was incompetent and was needing a psychiatric examination, that he was competent enough to waive this particular situation in your mind?" Mr. Weddle clarified his position as follows: "I'm not sure that I signed an affidavit saying that he was incompetent. I believe I signed an affidavit saying that there was an issue as to his state of mind at the time this alleged crime occurred." Moroever, in Mr. Weddle's words, "We made the decision to go forward with the trial based on Mr. Rodgers' request to do so ...

I felt that Mr. Rodgers could aid me adequately in making that decision, and that's why the decision was made." (T.21-22)

Counsel for Rodgers went on to conduct a colloquy set out in relevant part as follows:

- Q. Okay. Now then, what factors did you consider when you arrived as your conclusion to make the second affidavit that he was within his faculties and capacities to assist you and stand trial?
- A. His ability to communicate to me, his theory of his defense.

#### Q. His what?

A. His theory of his defense. His witnesses that he would like to call on his behalf as well as witnesses that could testify about the victim in this case.

#### Q. Is that it?

- A. That's not it. I mean, you get a feel for the way a defendant can communicate with you and assist you, and Mr. Rodgers appeared to be able to do that quite competently throughout my entire representation of him.
- Q. Do you think that you should make a decision based on getting a feel? You said you got a feel for that. Where did you get that feel from?
- A. Well when you speak with someone, Mr. Long, you find out whether or not they're competent to communicate their ideas to you. In Mr. Rodgers' case his theory of his defense, the witnesses that could testify about this case and my conclusion was that he was able to assist me in his representation of him in this case.

[V]ery rarely do you have a situation where you request a psychiatric evaluation on a client. In this case that decision was made solely on the phone call that I got from a person that knew Mr. Rodgers and related an illness that he suffered while

in the Navy that might affect his ability to use good judgment. And I personally, although I did sign the affidavit, ... it was my experience that Mr. Rodgers was able to assist me.

As far as what capacities I evaluated him in, I can't answer that. As you have pointed out, I'm not a psychiatrist, but I have to make decisions on based on my communication with my client on a daily basis, whether or not they're able to assist me effectively. Mr. Rodgers was able to assist me effectively. In fact, he communicated theories of his case quite well to me and my staff, and he communicated to me the witnesses that I needed to speak with on his behalf and also that could testify about the victim in this case.

(T.26-29)

On cross-examination of Mr. Weddle, the assistant district attorney began with a line of questioning set out in pertinent part below:

- Q. ... You represented the defendant in this case. He goes to trial. I want to talk about a couple of legalities. You're familiar with the Supreme Court, the United States Supreme Court, what their standard for competence is?
  - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Which is essentially can he consult with his attorney with a rational degree of understanding, and can he understand what he's charged with basically.
  - A. Basically, yes, sir.
- Q. [H]e consulted with you and he understood the case, did he not?
  - A. Yes, sir.
  - Q. Understood what he was charged with?
  - A. Yes, sir.
  - Q. Understood the ins and outs of the case?

- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. You explained the legalities to him. Based on his responses to you, he understood that.
  - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Okay. And the entire time he was consulting with you, did you have any reservations whatsoever about going forward with trial without another basically examination by a psychiatrist or psychologist?
  - A. No, sir, I did not.
- Q. Okay. And the reason for that was- you know what the standard for competency is; and this man met it.
  - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Okay. He was able to recall relevant facts? He in fact testified in his own behalf, did he not?
  - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Okay. And although the jury chose not to believe him, he was able to recount all the facts of that day and tell what happened to the jury.
  - A. Yes, sir.
  - Q. Or his version of it, correct?
  - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Okay. And of course prong number four is he was able to testify in his own defense if appropriate, which he absolutely did in this case, correct?
- A. Yes, sir. We discussed that at the appropriate time. We never made that decision until the State has rested, until the end of the trial. But that decision was made by Mr. Rodgers based on my counsel with him.

- Q. And he understood what was at stake, did he not?
- A. He understood. He understood that he had a right not to and chose to do so.
- Q. One thing I want to point out. This order for psychiatric examination, you were taken to task somewhat regarding whether or not you had provided that to the Court, filed it, etc. Are you familiar with the order that was entered?
  - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. Did the order not— to your knowledge, the order stated, did it not, that he was to be examined by Dr. William Walker, Jr., and that Dr. Walker was to provide a report to the Court?
  - A. Yes, sir.
- Q. All right. So he goes, he picks out a psychiatrist of his own choosing to do the exam, correct?
  - A. This was his existing physician, yes, sir.
- Q. And that psychiatrist did not do a forensic examination?
  - A. He did not.
- Q. Okay. And as this case progressed you were able to spend more and more time talking to and observing the man himself. Correct?
- A. As the case progressed I felt like the psychiatric examination was more of a formality than anything else. We had had ample opportunity to communicate with Mr. Rodgers about his case, and we felt like it was more or less a non issue.

Q. Okay. And the defendant essentially decided to waive having an exam done by another professional, correct?

A. He made it clear to us that he did not want any other person to perform a psychiatric evaluation other than Dr. Walker. And when Dr. Walker did what he did, he decided to proceed to trial without one.

Q. Basically Mr. Weddle, I want to invite some specific case law. You are familiar, are you not, with that the trial court itself has no affirmative duty under the law to conduct a competency hearing?

A. I believe that's correct. ... And unless I suppose the court ... on its own motion requests one, which was not done in this case.

Q. Correct. And I believe His Honor was the trial judge. Did anything happen during that trial that would cause the court sua sponte to order a competency hearing? Did the defendant go crazy? Did he bite any bailiffs? I mean, did anything happen?

A. No, sir.

Q. Okay. The issue we're dealing with today is competency as you understand the defendant's motion.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay. As far as the criteria in Mississippi as you know it to be, and under the United States Supreme Court guidelines, was this defendant competent at the time that you represented him for trial in 1999, I suppose?

A. Yes, sir.

(emphasis added) (T.33-39)

Counsel for Rodgers next called attorney Omar Craig, who testified that "there should have been a psychological evaluation, which was not done." He went on to testify, "Secondly, I question the lawyer ... " (T.43)

On cross-examination, Mr. Craig acknowledged that he did not try Rodgers' murder case; that he was not in the courtroom when it was tried; and that he had not read the transcript of the trial. Ultimately, he admitted that he had no firsthand knowledge of this case "whatsoever." He also acknowledged that Mr. Weddle was in a far better position to ascertain whether Rodgers was competent to stand trial at the time of the trial. (T.45-48) Finally, the assistant district attorney conducted a line of questioning set out in pertinent part below:

- Q.... If Judge Tommy Gardner had observed something that created a question in his mind as to the defendant's competence, do you think he would have made the wrong decision and just simply allowed it to go forward?
- A. Are you saying he should have done it sue [sic] sponte?
  - Q. Yes, sir.
- Q. I think that he needed to be reminded of what had gone on, what the record reflected, and that was a concern that he was not. I don't think that a trial judge has to be familiar with everything within a file. ... But I think that's the duty of the prosecuting attorney and the defense attorney to bring those to the attention of the court.
- Q. But that's not the question that I asked. If Judge Gardner had observed anything—
  - A. Knowing him as I do-
- Q. –that would have caused him to question this man's competence, do you think he would have just gone forward and ignored it?

# A. Knowing Judge Gardner as I do, sue [sic] sponte he would have done it, yes, sir.

(emphasis added) (T.50-51)

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